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To make learning awesome

To build the leading learning 
platform in the world

We are playful
We are curious
We are inclusive

Our mission

Our vision

Our values

3
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Kahoot! is a global learning platform 
company that aims to empower everyone, 
including children, students, and employees, 
to unlock their full learning potential.

About

Our learning platform makes it easy for any individual 
or corporation to discover, create, share, and play 
learning games that drive compelling engagement. 
In addition, the Kahoot! family of apps takes math 
learning to a new level  and empowers children to 
learn to read through play. Our Drops apps, for learners 
of all ages, make language learning natural with 
immersive visuals and play. Through Actimo, Kahoot!’s 
employee engagement platform, organizations can 
easily connect and engage with their work teams. 

Kahoot! offers free and paid plans as well as a 
massive library of ready-to-use content, designed 
for use in the classroom, at work—whether in-
person or virtual— or at home for social use or self-
study. Today, Kahoot! is used by 7 million teachers 
globally, hundreds of millions of students and 
families, and 97% of Fortune 500 companies.

In the last 12 months, more than 250 million games 
have been played on the Kahoot! platform with 1.5 
billion participating players in 200 countries. Kahoot! 
currently serves over half a million paying users from its 
headquarters in Norway and offices in the US, the UK, 

France, Finland, Estonia, Denmark and Spain. Let’s play!

Unleashing this potential within every learner is what drives 

us, which is why we are on a mission to make learning 

awesome. We do this by offering an ever-expanding range of 

experiences that create impactful learning and engagement, 

across educational, corporate and social contexts. 

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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HQ

Our global 
team

200+
K!rew members

8+
countries

30+
nationalities

Norway
Denmark
Estonia
Finland

Kahoot! has offices in the 

following countries:

France
Spain
United Kingdom
United States

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020 5
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The Kahoot! Group consists 
of the following companies:

Our 
companies

6

The Kahoot! brand represents the original Kahoot! learning 
platform that is synonymous with learning and engagement, 
no matter the subject, age, audience or context.

Organizations can connect and engage their work teams 
with Actimo, our employee engagement platform. . 

Learners of all ages can make language learning natural with 
immersive visuals and play through our Drops apps.

The Kahoot! DragonBox series of apps takes math 
learning to a new level, while the Kahoot! Poio Read app 
empowers children to learn to read through play.
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2019
New commercial subscription 
editions for all segments

Reaching 170K paid subscriptions

Acquisition of Poio and DragonBox

120+ K!rew members

2020
More commercial offerings, with 
550K+ paid subscriptions

Launched first platform service

Acquisition of Actimo enterprise learning 
and Drops language learning app

200+ K!rew members

2018
Launched first commerical editions 
with 40K paid subscriptions

Launched mobile apps for iOS and Android

75+ K!rew members

2013-17
Launched September 2013

Growth focus on US and K-12

Top 3 tool in US education

50+ K!rew members

Kahoot! was founded in 2012 by, when Morten Versvik, Johan Brand, and Jamie Brooker who, 

in a joint project with the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), teamed 

up with Professor Alf Inge Wang and were later joined by entrepreneur Åsmund Furuseth. 

Using technology based on Kahoot! co-founder Morten 
Versvik’s research for his Master’s thesis at NTNU, the 
Kahoot! beta was rolled out at SXSWedu in March 2013 
and officially launched in September 2013, which marked 
the arrival of a new way to ensure attention, create 
engagement and provide knowledge in classrooms. 
Through 2018, Kahoot! was on a fast growth trajectory 
with a focus on the U.S. K-12 education market.

In 2018, we launched our first commercial versions of 
Kahoot! for school and corporate audiences, as well as 
mobile apps for iOS and Android. The following year, 

we expanded our family of apps with the acquisition of 
DragonBox and Poio. Kahoot! became the go-to digital 
learning platform trusted by educators, professionals and 

families to bring engagement to learning, whether in-
person or remotely. In October 2019, Kahoot! was publicly 
listed on Euronext Growth on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 
For Kahoot!, 2020 was a year that accelerated already 
strong growth and momentum for the company, as 
the shift to virtual learning due to COVID-19 sparked a 
surge in global demand for high quality digital learning 
tools and content.The company quickly pivoted to 
meet those needs, adding new features and launching 
new offerings, and acquiring Actimo and Drops.

In 2020, Kahoot! secured significant new funding 

and raised $240 million from SoftBank along with 
Norwegian and international investors, allowing us 
to grow our offerings as well as our global team.

The Kahoot! journey

Development of 
cumulative players

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

1 billion

2 billion

3 billion

5 billion
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Letter 
from 
the CEO
Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020

2020 proved to be a pivotal year for 
Kahoot!. As the focus turned towards 
fighting a global pandemic, the world 
embraced new ways of learning, 
working and socializing, almost 
overnight. We witnessed the rapid 
acceleration of digitalization across 
all aspects of life, and at Kahoot!, we 
were prepared for the changes. As a 
company, we were well-positioned to 
support  educators, students, parents, 
professionals and social groups as 
they navigated a new and virtual 
means of engaging, entertaining and 
learning. It became more important 
than ever in 2020 for us to fulfill our 
mission of making learning awesome 
for everyone, whether physically 
together or at a safe social distance. 

Kahoot! experienced massive 
adoption globally throughout  2020, 
as it became an essential toolkit 
to stimulate engagement at school, 
work and home, during the pandemic 
and beyond. We achieved a major 
milestone for Kahoot!, reaching 5 

billion participating players since 
launch, a number that’s been 
steadily growing over our seven-year 

history. This was a proud moment 
for all of us at Kahoot!, and a truly 
awesome way to end the year.

From start to finish, 2020 was a year of 
exciting initiatives and strong growth 
for Kahoot!. Our solid organic growth 
fueled our ambitions to build the 
world’s leading learning platform, and 
we further strengthened this position 
by acquiring two companies, employee 
engagement platform Actimo and 
language learning platform Drops. With 
these two powerful companies now in 
the Kahoot! family, we have been able 
to bolster our learning offerings for 
corporate learners and those learning 
at home, in addition to introducing 
new functionality that enables millions 
of users to learn more effectively.

Over the course of the year, the 
Kahoot! team continued to define 
and execute on our strategy and 
ambitious roadmap targeting our 
primary segments: at school, at home 
and at work. We continued to build 
our globally recognized brand with a 
viral distribution model  - based on 
a scalable technology platform. →

Dear Shareholders,
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Key milestones in 2020
In February 200, as schools around the world shifted 
to distance learning, Kahoot! was one of the first 
companies to respond and offer free access to 

Kahoot! Premium to all educators and schools 

affected by the pandemic. This offer garnered 
more than 100,000 signups per day at the outset 
of the pandemic. Shortly after, we launched a 
series of free learning webinars for our educator 
users, providing them with the support they 
needed to quickly adapt to new technologies. By 
May 2020, remote use of Kahoot! had increased 
5X since the beginning of the pandemic.

Throughout the year, we continued to add new 
features and functionalities, for both free and paying 
users, to improve their experience and better support 
their learning, whether in-person or virtual. This 
included interactive presentations for professionals 
and educators, study leagues for students, 
brainstorm sessions for professionals and the launch 
of our mobile app in five global languages.

In May 2020, when remote work had become the 
predominant ‘new normal’ in the corporate world, 
we launched our powerful integration with the 

leading collaboration and communications tool, 

Microsoft Teams. With this integration, users were 
able to launch kahoots without ever leaving the 
Teams application, as well as conveniently assign 
self-paced challenges to groups within Teams. 

In early June 2020, we hosted our first-ever virtual 
event, the Kahoot! EDU Summit. This event 
connected over 35,000 educators globally, bringing 
them insightful presentations and thought-
provoking discussions about the future of education 
through 14 sessions across 3 parallel tracks. Later 
in the year, we revamped Kahoot! Certified. This 
free training program for educators is designed 
to help them make the most of Kahoot! in their 
own environments. Since launch, more than 
20,000 teachers have been Kahoot! Certified. 

Over the summer, we launched Kahoot! Academy, a 
knowledge platform and online community. It allows 
educators and publishers to share and access content 
that supports engaging and meaningful learning 
experiences for learners of all ages, worldwide. Since 
launch, Kahoot! Academy has engaged more than 
70 million users and developed a fast-growing library 
of thousands of engaging games and collections 
from Verified Kahoot! Academy educators in a range 
of topics and languages - all in an effort to provide 
high-quality content for our global audience. This has 
led us to forge partnerships with content providers 
such as Disney, Marvel, Common Sense Education, 
United Nations, Time for Kids, and many others. →

When you can’t meet your 
students in person, Kahoot! is 
particularly helpful to motivate 
them to study, give them the right 
share of autonomy, and involve 
them by leading the class.

Goh Kok Ming

Math Teacher in Malaysia
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In parallel, we continued to strengthen our corporate learning 
offerings by launching Kahoot! 360. This is a powerful, 
collaborative platform for organizations that seek to connect 
teams and individuals, either in person or remotely. Today, more 
than 97% of Fortune 500 companies, along with companies 
of all sizes, rely on Kahoot! to make complex topics more 
exciting and to create greater engagement around work 
activities. This includes onboarding new employees, training 
of staff, conducting presentations and hosting events.

Later in the year, we also announced our forthcoming integration 

with Zoom, one of the most popular video-first unified 
communications platforms. This integration, expected to launch  
during the first half of 2021, will allow users to host and play Kahoot! 
games and presentations, without ever leaving their Zoom meetings.  

This integration with Kahoot! will make it easy for our 
users to host and play Kahoot! games during Zoom 
meetings and bring more value to their meetings through 
the high level of engagement that Kahoot! brings.

Getting a Kahoot! 
EDU site license has 
helped us empower 
our educators with the 
tools to collaborate and 
engage learners both 
in class and at home.

Ross Mayfield

Lead Product Manager, Integrations at Zoom

Jonathan Tepper

Executive Director of Information & Learning 
Technology at Greenwood College School

As the back-to-school season approached in late Q3 2020, 
we launched Kahoot! EDU. The aim was to provide a scalable 
offering for schools, enabling the administrators and school 
leaders to introduce an enhanced Kahoot! experience to their 
entire school or district. Shortly after this launch, we followed up 
by announcing the integration with Bitmoiji, yet another way 
to help educators liven up their virtual classrooms and bring 
more engagement to self-study for students learning at home.

Last but not least, 2020 marked our foray into the “at home” 
user base, as we launched Kahoot!+ Family. This combo pack 
offering gives families a set of tools and apps to help them learn 
at home  — which landed just in time for the holiday season. →
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2020 was a turning 
point for Kahoot!

As we look back on our incredible journey 

in 2020, I have a tremendous amount of 

optimism for our future and our ability to 

continue to support our users and customers 

during these challenging times. I am incredibly 

proud of how we as a company have come together 

to strengthen our trajectory of our operations. 

We’ve done this through product development, 

constant focus on the user experience, and our 

ability to pivot and reimagine, in order to meet the 

changing needs of all our user groups and customers. 

There’s still a lot of important work  to be done that 

will require us to stay the course, but I’m excited 

about the opportunities that lie ahead as we continue 

on our mission to make learning awesome for all! 

Sincerely,

Eilert Giertsen Hanoa

CEO
11

Building a solid foundation 
through a strong 
team and culture
I’ve served as CEO for just over a year, and during 
this time I’ve only grown more impressed by 
the talented and motivated team at Kahoot!. 
It’s a team that has continually delivered 
stellar products and top performance, even 
during extremely challenging times due to the 
pandemic. As a company, we shifted to a fully 
remote operational working model, becoming 
almost completely virtual, along with much 
of the world. This added new intensity to our 
work, increasing the demand for our products 
and solutions among the families, schools and 
corporate citizens, as they sought solutions to 
maintain momentum and engagement. We are 
fortunate that, over the years, the Kahoot! team 
has built a solid technical foundation to do just 
that, enabling us to continuously add more value 
for all our users through new and increasingly 
relevant solutions, resulting in a scalable cloud 
platform with a viral business model. It’s a model 
that served us well during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Over the course of the year our team has grown 
to 200+ employees all of whom represent the 
strong Kahoot! culture of curiosity, inclusivity 

and playfulness. We aim to expand our 
employee base in all areas of the company 
in 2021. Our first priority has been to invest 
into engineering and product development, 
in addition to acquiring talents in customer 
experience, design, assisted sales, and corporate 
development and operations throughout the year. 

Solid financial performance
As we closed out the year, I am proud to 
share that our organization has stepped up 
to the challenges and also delivered solid 

financial growth. The Kahoot! Group reported 
invoiced revenue of more than $45 million 
for the full year 2020, representing 247% 

year-over-year growth. We finished the 
year with annual recurring revenue (ARR) 
of approximately $60 million compared to 
$14 million at the same time last year.

The user growth on the platform continued 
with more than 24 million active accounts 
in 2020 (57% year-over-year growth), more 
than 250 million hosted games (19% year-
over-year increase) and approximately 1.5 
billion participating players (26% year-over-
year growth), all in the last 12 months.

We also saw strong growth in paid subscriptions 
for Kahoot!, reaching more than 550,000 in 
the fourth quarter of 2020, at a growth rate of 
220% compared to the same time last year.

At the same time, we maintained a strong focus 
on running our operations with positive cash 

flow. Q4 was the fifth consecutive quarter with 
positive cash flow, as reported $7m in the quarter. 

Kahoot! raised more than $240 million in funding 
in 2020 to accelerate growth through value-
creating organic and non-organic opportunities, 
putting the company in a strong position to 
continue focused execution in the future. 
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2020 in review

12

Jan Jul

OctApr

Feb Aug

NovMay

Mar Sep

DecJun

17M
active accounts

21M
active accounts

24M 
active accounts

20M
active accounts

Launched student-paced games on the web

Free Kahoot! Premium access for teachers 
and schools affected by COVID-19
Introduced “add images as answers” feature

Launched free distance 
learning webinar series

Launched Groups

Collaborated with Marvel 

Added open-ended questions feature

Launched mobile app in Spanish

Partnered with Disney

Acquired Actimo

Announced study leagues on the mobile app
Overhauled Kahoot! Certified

Launched Kahoot! EDU

Raised $215M in new equity
Integration with Zoom

Introduced a math symbol editor

400K paying users (not including 
Actimo and Drops) 
Partnered with Bitmoji 
Launched Kahoot!+ for families 
Acquired Drops

Mobile app now available in 5 languages

Added brainstorm feature
Reached 5B cumulative 
players since launch

Launched Kahoot! Poio Read app in the U.S.
Added multi-select answers feature 
Launched interactive presentations feature

Integration with Microsoft Teams

5X increase in remote use
Introduced new reports

Launched study modes on the mobile app

Raised $25M+ in new equity
Kahoot! EDU Summit connected 
35K educators worldwide
Launched Kahoot! Academy

Rose to Top 5 EDU app in U.S. and U.K.

202K
paying users

360K
paying users

550K
paying users

270K
paying users

Q2

Q1 Q3

Q4
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Testimonials

Teachers
This is easier said than done, 

but there are resources that 
can spice up the at-home 
learning experience. Many 

of my students love using 
Kahoot!, an app that allows 
them to take quizzes and 
compete against their 

classmates in real-time — 
using their smartphone, 
tablet or computer.

Michael Twersky
Teacher and CNBC contributor

Students 
Kahoot! has proven to be 
an extremely useful and, I 
would even say -- life-saving 
tool for all students who 
hope to do well on tests.

Meghan Montminy
High school student

Employees
The trainer instantly knows 
what students understand 
and what needs more 
clarification, helping us 

improve the learning for 
everyone. Kahoot! quizzing 
provides a great opportunity 
to encourage students 
to discuss the content, 
as well as teach and 

encourage one another.

Emily Zachariasen 
Guild Mortgage

Partners 
Through our eight UN75 
games on Kahoot!, we reached 
out to several hundred 
thousands of students and 
young people in a couple of 

months in 186 countries. The 
UN75’s collaboration with 
Kahoot! has extended the 
reach and engagement of 
our global listening exercise.

Fabrizio Hochschild
UN Under-Secretary General

Families
My daughter has used Kahoot! 
during the time of ‘stay at home’ 
order in place. It gave her and 
her friends an opportunity to 

learn something new and have 
fun at the same time. To quote 
as my daughter said “I love 
kahoot because it gives me some 
entertainment, knowledge and 
fun time with my friends.”

Sandhya
Mother of a third grader

https://www.cnbc.com/2020/05/05/teach-tutor-8-years-shares-5-step-secret-to-keeping-kids-engaged-when-learning-at-home.html
https://kahoot.com/blog/2019/03/29/student-story-fun-reward-test-prep/
https://kahoot.com/business/customer-stories/guild-mortgage-virtual-training/
https://kahoot.com/academy/news/kahoot-and-the-united-nations-engage-over-250k-players-worldwide-in-an-historic-dialogue-to-shape-our-global-future/
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Key 
numbers
5B
Cumulative participating 
players since launch

$45M
Invoiced revenue for 
2020, growing 247% YoY

550K
Paid subscribers growing 
220% YoY, for professionals, 
teachers, and personal use

100M+
User-generated kahoots

24M+
Active accounts 
whereof 7M teachers 
and educators

1.5B
Participating players LTM

*Based on estimated EdTech market in 2020 from Goldman Sachs Education 
Technology Sector trends and market update May 2020

250M+
Games played on the 
Kahoot! platform LTM

$20B
Large market opportunity*

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020 14
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Board of 
Directors 
report

Overview
Kahoot! is on a mission to make learning 
awesome! We want to empower 
every child, student and employee to 
unlock their full learning potential. 
Our game‐based learning platform 
makes it easy to create, share and play 
learning games driving compelling 
engagement. Our vision is to build the 
leading learning platform in the world.

Kahoot! is a global learning platform 
company headquartered in Norway, 
focused on developing a game-based 
learning platform that makes it easy 
to create, share and play fun learning 
games or trivia quizzes. Kahoot! is used 
for all kinds of learning and in a variety 
of settings – in school or university 
classrooms, corporate offices and remote 
working spaces, social settings, and 
sporting and cultural events. Our aim is to 
make learning awesome by helping every 
child, student and employee unlock 
their full learning potential.  Kahoot! has 
throughout 2020 continued to expand 
with new free and premium tools and 
functionality for interactive presentations 
for school and work, corporate training, 
language learning, Academy Marketplace 
and additional content offerings from 
publishing partners, to make learning 
even more awesome for all users. 

Over the past several years, the Kahoot! 
Group has witnessed a fundamental 

shift in how digital tools are being 
used in companies, organizations, in 
social contexts and in educational 
institutions. As self-study and online 
learning has increased in popularity, 
the Kahoot! Group’s products have seen 
a significant increase in downloads 
and usage for home-schooling and 
remote classes, and organizations of 
all sizes are increasingly using Kahoot! 
for remote training, sharing knowledge 
and building their corporate cultures. 

Kahoot! AS is the parent company 
of the Kahoot! Group and has since 
October 2019 been admitted for 
trading on Euronext Growth on Oslo 
Stock Exchange. The Company is 
aiming for a main listing on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange which may be as 
early as in the first quarter of 2021. 

Kahoot! Is an efficient and innovative 
organization which employs people 
with a proactive approach, always 
searching for improved solutions 
towards our common goal: to make 
learning awesome! In pursuing this 
ambitious goal, Kahoot! has developed 
engaging products and is constantly 
moving forwards with new innovations 
and extended product offerings. 

The Company is headquartered in 
Oslo, Norway with offices in the United 
States, United Kingdom, France, Finland, 
Estonia, Denmark and Spain. →

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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Review of the consolidated 
financial statements
During 2020, the Kahoot! Group has converted the 
consolidated financial statements to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by 
the European Union (EU), and as such the 2019 and 
2018 financials have been re-stated to give comparable 
figures. Kahoot! acquired corporate learning provider 
Actimo and language learning provider Drops in 
Q4 2020 which are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from acquisition date.  

Consolidated operating revenue for the financial year 
2020 was USD 31.0 million compared to USD 8.5 million 
for the financial year 2019, representing 265% growth 
mainly driven by increased number of paid subscriptions 
for the Kahoot! Group companies. Operating expenses 
for the financial year 2020 was USD 47 million whereof 
share-based compensation expense and related payroll 
taxes, acquisition-related expenses and listing cost 
preparations accounted for USD 18.3 million. EBITDA for 
the financial year 2020 was USD -15.9 million compared to 
USD -10.7 million for 2019.  After adjusting for share-based 
compensation expense and related payroll taxes, acquisition-
related expenses and listing cost preparations, EBITDA 
represented USD 2.3 million for the financial year 2020 
compared to USD -6.6 million for the financial year 2019.

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the financial year 
2020 was USD 2.6 million, compared to USD 1.7 million for 
the financial year 2019. For the financial year 2020, the Group 
had on a consolidated basis net financial expenses of USD 
16.6 million, compared to USD 0.1 million for the financial 
year 2019. The increase in financial expenses was caused by 

exchange rate differences on foreign currency held in the 
parent company. The majority of the Group’s liquidity is 
held in USD as this is the expected acquisition currency.  

The Kahoot! Group had assets of USD 377.8 million 
as of 31 December 2020. Non-current assets were 
USD 115.7 million whereof goodwill and intangible 
assets accounted for USD 112.1 million. Current 
assets were USD 262.1 million whereof cash 
and cash equivalents represented USD 256.1 
million. Non-current liabilities were USD 23.6 
million whereof USD 15.2 million is contingent 
liability relating to acquisitions in 2020. 

Current liabilities at the end of 2020 
were USD 65.8 million whereof deferred 
revenue represented USD 27.9 million. 
Equity ratio for the Kahoot! Group as 
of 31 December 2020 was 76%.
The liquidity for the Kahoot! Group is 
satisfactory with a cash balance of 
USD 256 million as of 31 December 
2020. Cash flow from operations 
was $17.4 million for the 
financial year 2020, cash flow 
from investing activities was 
USD -34.4 million driven by 
the acquisitions of Actimo 
and Drops and cash flow 
from financing activities 
was USD 231.1 million 
from new capital 
raised in 2020. →

16
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Review of the parent company’s financial statements 
The annual accounts for the parent company have been prepared according to 
Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (NGAAP). Revenue for the parent 
company Kahoot! AS was NOK 244.1 million for the financial year 2020 compared 
to NOK 69.8 million for the financial year 2019. Operating result (EBITDA) for the 
financial year 2020 was NOK -97.4 million impacted by share-based compensation 
expense and related payroll taxes of NOK 129.7 million for the year.  Total equity 
for the parent company was NOK 2 702 million as of 31 December 2020.

Allocation of net profit in the parent company
The parent company Kahoot! AS recorded a net loss of NOK 201.4 million for the financial 
year 2020. The Board of Directors proposes the net loss to be allocated to other equity.

Going concern

In accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act, the board of 
directors confirms that the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the going-concern assumption. 

Risk and risk management 
Risk management for the Kahoot! Group is based on the principle that risk 
evaluation is an integral part of all business activities, where the ability to 
implement the Group’s strategic and operational plans is influenced by various 
commercial, technological, and operational risk factors summarized below. 

Market risk
The Kahoot! Group is exposed to several market related risk, including but not limited 
to; access and ability to keep qualified employees, access to technology used in product 
development, ability to keep the user engagement and brand awareness, change in 
user pattern for existing and new users of the products offered by the Group, ability 
to convert non-paying users to paying subscribers, relative competitiveness in the 
markets where the Group operates, global or regional economic market conditions. 

Credit risk
The Kahoot! Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, primarily 
trade receivables. The Group does not have a specific procedure for assessing 
credit risks for its customers before transactions are entered. The Group does 
not have significant credit risk associated by a single counterparty. →
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Currency risk
Due to the broad scope of the Group’s international operations, a substantial 
portion of its assets, liabilities, sales and expenses are denominated in 
currencies other than NOK. The Group’s predominant exposures in terms of 
revenue are to USD, EUR and GBP, with revenue in USD in particular.

Changes in the exchange rates between these currencies can also affect 
the Group’s operations and financial position, as a result of translational 
exchange rate effects. These effects arise because the financial results of the 
Group’s subsidiaries are measured in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the subsidiary operates (its functional currency). The 
results of operations and assets and liabilities of a number of the Company’s 
global subsidiaries are, therefore, measured in currencies other than USD and are 
then translated into USD for presentation of the Group’s financial results, assets 
and liabilities in the Group’s financial statements. Consequently, fluctuations 
in the applicable foreign currency exchange rates may increase or decrease 
the USD value of the Group’s non-USD assets, liabilities, sales, costs and order 
intake, even if their value has not changed in the local functional currency.

Interest risk
The group holds no long-term borrowings and no interest-bearing debt. Lease 
contracts resulting in a recognized lease liability are not subject to change 
in payments derived from interest fluctuations, and the Groups exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations and credit availability is there for limited. 

Liquidity risk
Kahoot! successfully raised new share capital in 2020, resulting in a 
strong financial position. Further, the Kahoot! Group has positive cash 
flow from operations and does not have any interest-bearing debt.

Working environment
The working environment is considered good. Relying on highly skilled 
and motivated employees to succeed, Kahoot! is constantly working to 
maintain an attractive and rewarding working environment. For the financial 
year 2020, the registered level of absence due to sickness in the parent 
company was 1.3 %. No accidents or injuries occurred during the year.

Impact on external environment
Reducing both Kahoot!’s and our customers’ impact on the environment is 
an important focus for Kahoot! and the Board of Directors. Kahoot! strives to 
keep its environmental footprint minimal by investing in offices with natural 
lighting and recycling. The company educates its employees on sustainability 
issues and engages them to participate in promoting sustainability. Kahoot!’s 
products promote digital and remote learning and hence allow for reduction 
of travel and unnecessary negative impact on the environment. →

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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Equal opportunities
At the end of 2020, the parent company Kahoot! 
AS had 95 employees, of which 33% were women. 
The market in which Kahoot! operates is somewhat 
overrepresented by by male employees, but the 
Kahoot! Group is actively working towards a diversified 
working environment. Women are represented 
in most of the company’s departments and the 
ratio between men and women will continue 
to be monitored. Kahoot! strongly respects and 
supports diversity in general and see this as a 
competitive advantage to create value for the 
company and its shareholders. Kahoot! has a policy 
that includes the principle of equal opportunities 
for equal work, implying that every employee will 
have the same rights, salary and career options in 
the same position, all other factors being equal.

Discrimination
Inclusivity is one of Kahoot!’s core values, and 
the Company is committed to team diversity as 
a driver of success. The Company’s global team 
includes members of over 30 nationalities with 
different cultural and ethnic backgrounds.

Shareholders 
Kahoot! AS has a total of 446.1m common 
shares and more than 19,000 shareholders. The 
shares are listed on Euronext Growth on Oslo 
Stock Exchange with ticker code KAHOT.

Oslo, 9 February 2021 

Harald Arnet

Chairman

Sign

Sign

Sign

Sign

Sign

Sign

Sindre Østgård

Board Member
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Board Member
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CEO
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Outlook 2021 and events after the end of the financial year
The Kahoot! Group’s main markets are characterised by technological advances, change 
in customer requirements and frequent new product introductions and improvements. 
As user preferences change and develop, Kahoot! will stay attractive and relevant for 
its users through maintaining a persistent focus on innovation and creativity to retain 
its users’ brand loyalty and attract further interest within all user categories.

Kahoot!’s game‐based learning platform makes it easy to create, share and play learning 
games driving compelling engagement. In 2020 the Group has experienced a significant 
growth in use of its products, where 250 million games were played on the Kahoot! 
platform with 1.5 billion participating players with a strong growth in number of paying 
subscribers. Kahoot! is thus well positioned for continued growth and success.

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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We believe engaging learning is the key to development and empowerment at 
school, at home and at work. Kahoot!’s focus as a company is to operate in a 
sustainable way, in alignment with the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals and the impact on learning we’re aiming to make around the world.

Sustainability and 
social responsibility

Goal 4 (SGD4) is to ensure inclusive and 

equitable quality education and promote 

lifelong learning opportunities for all by 2030. 

SDG4 is key to Kahoot!’s mission and operations. 

We contribute to literacy, numeracy, overcoming 

language barriers, making learning more inclusive, 

and ensuring that learners acquire knowledge 

to promote sustainable development.

Kahoot! supports quality education through our 

main platform, as well as DragonBox and Poio, 

award-winning math and learn-to-read apps, and 

the Drops apps, which make language learning 

natural with immersive visuals and play. Together, 

we are on a mission to empower children of any 

background to learn through play, and build the 

world’s largest sustainable learning community! →

Quality education
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Kahoot! is played in over 200 countries all 

over the world, helping learners connect 

through the universal language of play and 

gain confidence in a new language. Many 

teachers use Kahoot! to help international 

learners—including refugees—to learn a 

new language, such as Carol Salva, an ESL 

consultant who used Kahoot! to educate 

refugee students and help them connect. 

Kahoot! has also recently expanded our offering 

for language learners with the Drops apps. →

Kahoot! is an easy-to-use tool for everyone, putting students front and center, with equal 

chances of becoming classroom heroes. Read how Arts teacher Barbara Wingfield 

encouraged creative teamwork with students co-creating kahoots in ASL. 

In response to COVID-19 and the global shift to distance learning, Kahoot! offered free access to 

Premium features for all educators impacted by the pandemic, working to ensure that educators 

could continue to connect with and engage their students, whether in the classroom or at home.

Inclusion is one of our core values, and it informs how we operate as an organization. 

We aim to be compliant with the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 

version 2.0, to an AA conformance level. Read our accessibility policy.

Overcoming 
language barriers

Making learning 
more inclusive

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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While Kahoot! enables users to create the content they wish without requiring pre-

screening, we also take steps to ensure that Kahoot! is a safe and welcoming space 

for all, and any inappropriate or harmful content is removed from the platform. 

Users have the option to flag any kahoot game, which is then reviewed by a Kahoot! 

moderator within 24 hours. Content may be removed for containing inappropriate 

language including misinformation, harassment, bullying, racism or other bigotry.

New kahoot games are checked automatically for any words the Kahoot! team has 

identified as inappropriate, allowing potentially harmful content to be reviewed by 

moderators and removed if necessary. Hosts also have the option to moderate player 

nicknames, giving them the tools to keep gameplay safe and age-appropriate.

Kahoot! is proudly ad-free on both the website and mobile app. This ensures 

that children are not exposed to potentially negative influences on our platform 

and allows young Kahoot! users to focus on playing and learning.

We at Kahoot! believe that learning should include 

everyone, and we work to eliminate barriers to education. 

Kahoot! aims to foster partnerships with organizations 

and institutions that both share our vision for positive 

social impact and which have important content to offer 

the youth audience – our future game-changers.

Our partnerships with such organizations as the United 

Nations, UNICEF, Common Sense Education, Amnesty 

International, the National Institutes of Health, the Marine 

Stewardship Council, and many more are examples 

of our strong shared commitment to this vision. 

In close collaboration with these partners on the 

important topics of human rights, children’s rights, 

bullying prevention, cyberbullying & online safety, diversity 

and inclusion, the dangers of drugs & alcohol use and 

sustainability, we’ve been able to engage millions of 

learners and their educators around the world.

Our partnerships with such organizations as Tiimo and the 

Ad Council reflect our commitments to this belief and enable 

Kahoot! to offer meaningful and inspiring learning content that 

can open minds and break stereotypes associated with gender, 

ethnicity, religion and neurodiversity (e.g., ADHD and autism). →

Keeping users safe

Making a positive 
social impact, globally
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At Kahoot!’s headquarters in Oslo, Norway, we strive to keep 

our environmental footprint minimal by investing in an office 

with natural lighting and recycling, and using more clean 

energy. We educate our employees on sustainability issues and 

engage them to participate in promoting sustainability.

Inclusivity is one of our core values, and we believe our team’s 

diversity is a driver of success. Our global team includes members 

of over 30 nationalities. Kahoot!’s full team of top leaders, 

including the Executive Management, consists of, in total, 24 

individuals of around 10 nationalities where 42% are women.

By growing our team to include the voices of a diverse range of 

professionals, we are able to build a more dynamic and creative 

company culture at Kahoot!. As we collaborate and contribute our 

unique points of view, social and cultural awareness and language 

abilities, together we drive greater innovation and global growth.

Members of the K!rew are protected in a safe work environment 

by the Norwegian Working Environment Act and the gender 

equality and discrimination act. We value a good work-

life balance, invest in our employees and welcome feedback 

from all in our mission to make learning awesome!

Reducing our 
environmental footprint

Valuing diversity
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Financial statements
Consolidated group
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss Consolidated statement of comprehensive income or loss

Consolidated group annual 
financial statements 2020
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Consolidated balance sheet

Oslo, 9 February 2021 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Consolidated group annual 

financial statements 2020

¹ The currency translation differences arising from the translation to the presentation currency is 
not included as a translation differences reserves, but presented as part of the different categories 

of the equity. These translation differences cannot be recycled through profit or loss. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated group annual 

financial statements 2020
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Note 1  General Information
Kahoot! AS (the Company or Kahoot!), the parent company of the Kahoot! 
Group (the Group) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in 
Norway, with its head office in Fridtjof Nansens plass 7, 0160 Oslo. The Company 
is listed on Euronext Growth in Oslo, Norway and has the ticker “KAHOT”. 

The Group is on a mission to make learning awesome! The Group wants to empower every 
child, student and employee to unlock their full learning potential. The Group’s game‐based 
learning platform makes it easy to create, share and play learning games driving compelling 
engagement. In addition, the Group’s family of apps takes math learning to a new level and 
empowers children to learn to read through play. Launched in 2013, the Group’s vision is 
to build the leading learning platform in the world. In 2020 over 250 million games were 
played on the Kahoot! platform with 1.5 billion participating players in 200 countries. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issuance 
by the Board of Directors on 9 February 2021. The Group has implemented 
IFRS per 1 January 2018, as further described in note 25.

Note 2  Significant events in the 
current reporting period
The financial position and performance of the Group was particularly affected 
by the following events and transactions during the reporting period:

 ▶ The acquisitions of DragonBox and Poio 1 September 2019, Actimo 
5 October 2020 and Drops 28 November 2020, (see note 4) 
resulted in recognition of goodwill, technology and brand.

 ▶ Through share issues, securing a broader investor base and strong 
balance sheet with a cash position of more than USD 250 million.

 ▶ Strong revenue growth as result of successful commercial 
development of the Kahoot! offerings.

Notes
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Note 3 General accounting principles
The general accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. Specific 
accounting principles are described in the relevant notes. 

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Kahoot! AS are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
endorsed by the European Union (EU), and additional disclosure requirements 
in the Norwegian Accounting Act as effective of 31 December 2020. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars (USD), and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. As a result of 
rounding adjustments, amounts and percentages may not add up to the total.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. The 
financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

Foreign currency

Functional currency, presentation currency and consolidation

The Group’s presentation currency is USD. The functional 
currency of the parent company is NOK. 

For consolidation purposes all subsidiaries with a different currency than the parent 
company is translated into NOK at the rate applicable at the balance sheet date. 
Income statements are translated at the average exchange rate that approximates the 
prevailing rate at the date of transaction. All exchange differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income/(loss) as translation differences that might be recycled to profit 

or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment. Following the consolidation, 
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet is retranslated to its presentation currency 
(USD) at the rate applicable at the reporting date. Consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and statement of cash flow are translated at its average rate that approximates 
the prevailing rate at the date of transaction.  The translation differences arising from 
the translation to the presentation currency is not included as a foreign currency 
translation reserve, but presented as part of the different categories of the equity. These 
translation differences cannot be recycled. The periods capital changes are presented at 
its transaction rate and recalculated to the rate applicable at the balance sheet date.

Transactions in foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates at the transaction date. Monetary balances in foreign currencies are translated 
into the functional currency at the exchange rates on the date of the balance sheet. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, 
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are generally recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Principles of consolidation 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group 
has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity, and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions 
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also 

Notes



31Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
transferred asset. Figures from subsidiaries with different account policies 
are amended to ensure consistent accounting policies for the Group. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary it derecognizes the assets, liabilities, 
and non-controlling interest, and reclassifies to profit or loss, or transfers 
directly to retained earnings as appropriate, the amounts recognized in 
other comprehensive income/(loss) in relation to the subsidiary.

Classification of current and non-current items 

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realized or sold, or to be used 
in the Group’s normal operating cycle, or falls due or is expected to be realized within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. Other assets are classified as non-
current. Liabilities are classified as current when they are expected to be settled in the 
normal operating cycle of the Group or are expected to be settled within 12 months 
of the end of the reporting period, or if the Group does not have an unconditional 
right to postpone settlement for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.  

Segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses. The Company has 
determined that the Board of Directors are the chief operating decision maker. 

The segment information is reported in accordance with the reporting to the Board of 
Directors (the chief operating decision makers) and is consistent with financial information 
used for assessing performance and supporting the Group’s direction and strategy, resource 
allocation and acquisition activities.  The Group has identified one segment. The Group is 
monitored at consolidated income statement, balance sheet and cash flow, in addition to 
the following alternative performance measures: invoiced revenues, cash conversion from 
invoiced revenues and number of paid subscriptions. Alternative performance measures 

are monitored at Kahoot! Group level. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) is defined as the segment’s measure of profit or loss.

The use of estimates and assessment of accounting 

policies when preparing the annual accounts 

Estimates and assumptions

Management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities, 
revenues, expenses and information on potential liabilities. Future events may lead 
to these estimates being changed. Estimates and their underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on a regular basis and are based on best estimates and historical 
experience. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements

Management has, when preparing the financial statements; made 
certain significant assessments based on critical judgment when 
it comes to application of the accounting principles. 

Material exercise of judgment and estimates relate to the following matters:

 ▶ Business combinations, note 4
 ▶ Revenue recognition, note 5
 ▶ Intangible assets, note 11

Notes
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Note 4  Business combinations
Accounting principles

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. 
The consideration transferred in a business combination comprises the fair values of the 
assets transferred, liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business, equity 
interests issued by the Group, fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement and fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the 
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value, or at the non-
controlling interests proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset measured at the excess of 
the sum of the consideration transferred, the fair value of any previously held equity 
interests and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity over 
the net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquired entity’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the total consideration of the business 
combination, the excess is recognized in the statement of profit or loss immediately.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the 
future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate 
used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing 
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. 
Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently re-measured 
to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying 
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquisition is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising 
from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Acquisitions 2020

Critical judgements and significant estimates

The acquisitions required the use of critical judgements and significant estimates 
when identifying and valuing intangible assets. For Actimo and Drops three 
possible intangible assets were identified: technology, brand and customer 
relationship. The customer relationship relates to existing customers for Actimo 
and existing subscribers for Drops.  Existing customer relationships are attributed 
zero value and identified intangible assets were technology and brand.  

The relief-from-royalty method have been applied to measure the fair value of the technology 
and the brand. The relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted estimated royalty 
payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the patents being owned. The 
valuation is based on projected cash flows for the next 6 years, which includes estimated 
revenue growth. These cash flows are adjusted for assumptions about churn, attrition and 
multiplied by a royalty rate (cost saving from owning the technology and brand). These cost 
savings are discounted using a cost of capital rate between 12.4%-12.9%. The royalty rate 
for technologies is assumed to be 30% and for the brands 2%. The brands are assumed 
to have from five years to seven years life and technology a useful life of seven years.

Notes
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Description

Actimo

Actimo ApS (“Actimo”) was acquired by a purchase of 100% of the shares effective 
from 5 October 2020. Actimo, an employee engagement platform that empowers 
organizations to more efficiently build corporate culture with better communication, 
training and interaction with the workforce was acquired for a total consideration 
of USD 26-33 million on a debt and cash free basis including a performance-based 
element. The consideration was settled by a combination of cash and 1,114,963 
new Kahoot! AS Shares at a subscription price of NOK 46.82 per share. 

PlanB Labs Oü (Drops)

PlanB Labs Oü (“Drops”, hereafter referred to as Drops) was acquired by a purchase 
of 100% of the shares effective from 28 November 2020. Drops, one of the fastest 
growing language platforms in the world was acquired for a total consideration of 
USD 31 million on a debt and cash free basis in addition to a performance-based 
element up to USD 19 million depending on Drops performance in 2020, 2021 
and 2022. The consideration was settled by a combination of cash and 859,169 
new Kahoot! AS Shares at a subscription price of NOK 62.63 per share. 

Preliminary purchase price allocation - assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The amounts recognized at the date of acquisitions in respect of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the table at right, using the exchange 
rate as of 5 October for Actimo and exchange rate as of 28 November for Drops. 

Goodwill from the acquisitions of Actimo and Drops are attributable to synergies, and 
will lead to additional value for the Group’s subscription-based product offering when 
combined with the Kahoot! products and marketing as one product going forward.

Acquisition costs of USD 540 thousand arose as a result of the transactions. These have been 
recognized as part of other operating expenses in the statement of statement of profit or loss.

Since the acquisition date 5 October 2020, Actimo has contributed with USD 1,125 
thousand to the Group’s revenue and a loss USD 590 thousand to the Group’s total loss. 

Drops have contributed with USD 726 thousand to the Group’s revenue 
since the acquisition date 28 November 2020 and a positive net income 
contribution of USD 60 thousand to the Group’s total loss.     

If the acquisitions of Actimo and Drops had occurred on 1 January 2020, 
the revenue for the Group would have been USD 40,842 thousand 
and the Group’s loss would have been USD 36,443 thousand. 

Notes
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Acquisitions 2019
Critical judgements and significant estimates

The acquisitions required the use of critical judgements and significant estimates 
when identifying and valuing intangible assets. For DragonBox three possible 
intangible assets were identified: technology, brand and customer relationship. The 
customer relationship relates to sale to schools for DragonBox (recurring revenue). 
Existing customer relationships are attributed zero value and identified intangible 
assets were technology and brand. For Drops, existing customer relationships are 
attributed zero value and identified intangible assets were technology and brand.  

The relief-from-royalty method have been applied to measure the fair value of the 
technology and the brand. The relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted 
estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the patents 
being owned. The valuation is based on projected cash flows for the next 6 years, which 
includes estimated revenue growth. These cash flows are adjusted for assumptions about 
churn, attrition and multiplied by a royalty rate (cost saving from owning the technology 
and brand). These cost savings are discounted using a cost of capital rate between 10.5%-
12.0%. The royalty rate for technologies is assumed to be 30% and for the brands 2%. The 
brands are assumed to have indefinite life and technology a useful life of seven years.

Description

DragonBox 

DragonBox was acquired by a purchase of 100% of the shares effective from 1 
September 2019. DragonBox, the award-winning game-based learning studio 
and maker of the popular DragonBox family of math apps was acquired for a total 
consideration of USD 17.3 million on a debt and cash free basis. The consideration was 
settled by a combination of cash and 3,868,636 (adjusted for split in 1:3 split in 2020, 
see note 18) new Kahoot! AS shares at a subscription price of NOK 25 per share.

Poio

Poio was acquired by a purchase of 100% of the shares effective from 1 September 2019. 
Poio, the game-based learning-to-read app, helping children crack the reading code through 
playing was acquired for a total consideration of USD 6.2 million on a debt and cash free basis. 
The consideration was settled by a combination of cash and 1,383,660 (adjusted for split in 1:3 
split in 2020, see note 18)  new Kahoot! AS shares at a subscription price of NOK 25 per share.

Final purchase price allocation - assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The amounts recognized at the date of acquisitions in respect of 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the 
table below, using the exchange rate as of 1 September 2019.

Notes
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Goodwill from the acquisitions of DragonBox and Poio are attributable to synergies, and 
will lead to additional value for the Group’s subscription-based product offering when 
combined with the Kahoot! products and marketing as one product going forward.

Acquisition costs of USD 347 thousand arose as a result of the transactions. These have been 
recognized as part of other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Since the acquisition date 1 September 2019, DragonBox have contributed USD 703 thousand 
to the Group’s total revenue and a loss of USD 479 thousand to the Group’s total loss. 

Since the acquisition date 1 September 2019, Poio have contributed USD 124 thousand 
to the Group’s total revenue and a loss of USD 159 thousand to the Group’s total loss. 

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2019, the revenue for the Group would have 
been USD 10,116 thousand and the Group’s loss would have been USD 9,072 thousand.

Note 5  Revenue
Accounting principles

The revenue in the Group is generated from five different licenses: Kahoot!, 
DragonBox, Poio, Actimo and Drops, which are further described below.

The Kahoot! license is sold either through the Group’s website or through apps. The app 
itself is for free, but it is possible to sign up for different subscriptions based on a monthly 
price (through an in-app purchase). The subscription is cloud-based. It is presented in 
different ways for the different customer-types, but the underlying product is the same.

The subscriptions are not customized to the individual customers and prepaid 
(mostly by 12 months). Kahoot! has the right to change or withdraw features, 
specifications, services and contents without noticing customers and customers 
are exposed to any positive or negative effects from the changes. The Kahoot! 
products are mainly paid upfront by credit cards based on subscription periods. 

The license is the only performance obligation. The design and the content 
might change during the subscription period and the customers expect that the 
products are updated. Kahoot! delivers a subscription which gives the customer 
access to the services they have subscribed to. Revenue from the Kahoot! 
subscriptions are recognized over time (over the subscription period). 

As Kahoot! develop and acquire new businesses, these products are over time 
integrated in relevant subscriptions as part of access to the Kahoot! platform. 

Sale through app store

Customers can purchase the DragonBox and Poio apps through an app store. At the 
time of purchase the apps are sold and customers have access to the apps with no 

Notes
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time limit. Customer can benefit from the software (apps received at delivery). Value 
of future upgrades are regarded as insignificant by the management and are not 
considered a separate performance obligation. Customers are granted a right to use 
the license and the revenue is recognized at a point in time. The price is the amount 
paid in the app store. The app store collects the payment on behalf of the Group. 

The revenue related to the app purchases are recognized at a point in time.

Sales to schools 

The Group sells license to schools as a subscription with multiple users. Customers 
receive a license key which expires according to the agreed subscription period.

According to DragonBox’s terms and conditions, the subscription also includes 
changes and upgrades. In principle, the software should be ready when the school 
year starts. Any later changes and upgrades mainly relate to maintenance. The 
upgrades should not be regarded as a separate performance obligation as it relates 
to delivering the license in accordance with the customers’ expectations. Therefore, 
the upgrades are inputs which together with the license fulfill a single promise to 
deliver. A one-year subscription is regarded as one performance obligation. 

The license revenues are recognized at point in time. As DragonBox were acquired in 
September 2019, no revenue from these services have been recognized in the year end 2019.

Drops - in app purchase

This service is similar to the Kahoot! product. The Drops service is sold 
either through the website or through apps. The apps themselves are for 
free but is limited to 5-minute playtime per day and contains ads. 

It is possible to sign up for different subscriptions through an in-app purchase (or 
purchase subscription on the webpage). The subscription is cloud-based.

Signing up for a subscription gives the customer unlimited language training and 
an ad-free experience for the length of the subscription. The difference between the 
subscription plans is the length of the subscription period, the underlying product is the 
same. The subscriptions are offered with monthly payment, yearly payment, and life-
time payment. Life-time payment means a one-time payment for lifetime access. The 
subscriptions are mainly paid upfront by credit cards based on subscription periods.

The license is the only performance obligation. The design and the content might 
change during the subscription period and the customers expect that the products 
are updated with new words and languages. The Group delivers a subscription which 
gives the customer access to the services they have subscribed to. Revenue from 
the Drops subscription are recognized over time (over the subscription period). 

Actimo

Actimo sells app’s to employers so they can better communicate with their employees. 

The customer grants access to the service and license is invoiced with a 
license fee. The license gives the customer access to a platform that enable 
the customers to train, communicate and support their employees. 

The delivery includes onboarding services. The onboarding includes platform set up, app 
building, launching and training and is not regarded as a separate performance obligation. 

Notes
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The licenses delivered by Actimo are cloud-based and the service cannot be 
used without access to Actimo’s platform. The subscription gives the customer 
access to the services they have subscribed to. Revenue from the Actimo 
subscription is recognized over time (over the subscription period). 

One performance obligation is identified, the subscription. The 
transaction price is the agreed subscription fee plus onboarding fee, 
which is recognized over time according to the license period.

Agent versus principal

The Actimo service is also sold through a third party (partner agreement). 
The Group has evaluated that it has the obligation towards end customer to 
provide the specified service itself. The Group is a principal. The revenues are 
recognized on a gross basis with any related expenses charged as costs. 

Critical judgements

For the revenue recognition related to the sale to schools, certain judgements 
were applied. This relates both to whether upgrades were considered a separate 
performance obligation and the assessment if the licenses were a right to access or 
right to use license. The discussions were related to the customer expectations and 
the nature of upgrades. The customer expects to have a product ready for use that 
includes the content for a whole year at the time the customer receives the license 
key. Further, the license was to be installed at the customer premises. Following this 
it was concluded that this was a right to use the license and recognized at a point 
in time. There were limited argumentation supporting a recognition according to 
right of access the license. Upgrades were not considered a separate performance 
obligation as they mainly related to bugfixes in order to deliver the agreed license.   
 

Significant estimates

Drops subscription is sold with different subscription period. One of the subscriptions is 
lifetime access for the customer, which is paid upfront. The Drops revenue is recognized 
over time.  Accordingly, the Group needs to assess the expected lifetime of an active user.  
It is evident that the user lose interest in the app after a period of time. The Group has 
assessed that using the history of the paid annual subscriptions adjusted for retention 
would be a good approximation of the period of which the transaction price should 
be allocated to. Currently this is two year. There is no significant financing element.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities relate to advances from customers for licenses paid upfront.

Description

Disaggregating of revenue

Other revenue includes one off sale of apps, such as Poio and DragonBox.

Contract assets and liabilities

Notes
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Remaining performance obligations

The remaining performance obligation on unsatisfied contracts of a duration of more 
than one year, represents USD 700  thousand of a total of USD 2,000 thousand which 
will be recognized in 2022. There were no remaining performance obligation in 2019 
and 2018. The amounts do not include variable considerations. As permitted by IFRS 15, 
unsatisfied contracts of a duration of one year or less are not required to be disclosed.

Information about major customers

The Company does not have single customers that generate 
10% or more of the entity’s total revenue.

Revenue by geography

In presenting the geographic information, revenue has been 
based on the geographic location of customers.

Note 6  Employee benefit expense
Accounting principles

Pension plans

The Group has a defined contribution plan for some of its employees. 
The Group’s payments are recognized in the profit or loss as an employee 
benefit expenses for the year to which the contribution applies.

Specification of employee expenses

See note 17 for further description of share-based payments.

Pensions

The Group’s Norwegian entities are obligated to follow the stipulations 
in the Norwegian Mandatory Occupational Pensions Act. The Group’s 
pension scheme adheres to the requirements, as set in the Act.

The pension rights of the Group’s employees vary between the legal entities. 

However, all plans are defined contribution plans. The defined contribution 
plans had 172 members in 2020, 89 in 2019 and 55 in 2018.

Notes
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Note 7  Other operating expenses
Other operating cost consists of the following:

Specification of auditors’ fees:

Note 8  Financial items

Notes
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Notes

Descriptions
Specification of income tax

Specification of deferred tax balances

Changes in deferred tax liabilities

Note 9  Tax
Accounting principles

Income tax expenses consist of taxes payable and changes to deferred tax. Tax 
is recognized in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss) or directly in equity.  

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 
net profit as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statement and their tax 
basis, together with tax losses carried forward at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are calculated based on the tax rates and tax legislation that are expected to 
apply when the assets are realized or the liabilities are settled, based on the tax rates and 
tax legislation that have been enacted or substantially enacted on the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available, against which the assets can be utilized. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on the same taxable entity. The entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements are subject to income tax in the countries where they are domiciled.
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Notes

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The majority of tax losses carried forward relate to the companies in Norway and Denmark, 
due to this, there are no time-limit related to when the tax losses may be utilized.

Note 10  Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Accounting principles

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is consistent with the calculation 
of the basic earnings per share, but at the same time gives effect to all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period, 
by adjusting the profit/loss and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential shares, for example: 

 ▶ The profit or loss for the period attributable to shares is adjusted for changes in profit 
or loss that would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares.

 ▶ The weighted average number of shares is increased by the weighted average 
number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding, 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.



42Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020

Description

The calculations of earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of Kahoot! AS are based on the following net profit/(loss) and share data:

Notes

* The Company has 20 081 975 potential dilutive shares from share 
options outstanding, that can become dilutive in future periods.

Note 11  Intangible assets
Accounting principles

Intangible assets acquired separately that have a finite useful life are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment 
charges. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ 
expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges.

Internally generated intangible assets

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new 
technical knowledge and understanding, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 
Expenditures on development activities are capitalized, if, and only 
if, all of the following conditions have been demonstrated:

 ▶ the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 
so that it will be available for use or sale;

 ▶ the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

 ▶ the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

 ▶ how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

 ▶ the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

 ▶ the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable 
to the intangible asset during its development

Capitalized development costs include costs directly attributable to 
development of the intangible, such as personnel expenses and consultancy 
services. Otherwise, such expenses are expensed as and when incurred. 
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Following the commercialization of Kahoot!’s learning platform in 2018, the 
Company has moved into a maintenance phase for the platform. Until the 
commercial launch all development was capitalized. After the commercial launch 
the cost are expensed as the main expenses incurred relate to improvements 
to the user interface of the Kahoot! platform on its website and mobile app and 
adjusting the platform based on technical issues which arise during use. 

As per date of these financial statements the Group had no systems to identify 
maintenance cost vs development costs. It will not be possible to use hindsight to 
identify any development costs and development costs might have been expensed 
in 2018, 2019 and 2020 as the cost cannot be reliably measured. It will require 
judgement to identify projects that might qualify for capitalization and the timing 
of capitalization (when the requirements for capitalization are present).

The expensed cost related to research, development and maintenance 
of the technology amounted to USD 5,574 thousand in 2020 (USD 
4,343 thousand in 2019 and USD 2,991 thousand in 2018). 

Notes
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Brands from different acquisitions are assessed to have different useful lifetime. Brands 
relating to DragonBox (carrying amount of USD 1,723 thousand as of 31.12.2020) and Poio 
(carrying amount of USD 446 thousand as of 31.12.2020)  are assumed to have indefinite 
useful life, whereas brands relating to acquisitions of Actimo (carrying amount of USD 329 
thousand as of 31.12.2020) as  and Drops (carrying amount of USD 1,085 thousand as of 
31.12.2020) are assumed to have respectively five- and seven-years useful life. Brands with 
definite useful lifetime are amortized over useful life. The brands with definite lifetime have 
been amortized in 2020  with USD 16 thousand and USD 12 thousand respectively for Actimo 
and Drops. Brands with indefinite useful lifetime are tested annually for impairment. 

Technology has been amortized in 2020 with USD 455 thousand for DragonBox 
(USD 162 thousand in 2019), Poio with USD 106 thousand (USD 38 thousand in 
2019), Actimo with USD 276 thousand and Drops with USD 193 thousand. 

Notes

Note 12  Goodwill and impairment
Accounting principles

Goodwill 

Goodwill does not generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets, 
and is allocated to the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination that gave rise to the goodwill. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or group of assets. By the end of 2020, the goodwill relates entirely to the 
acquired companies in 2019 (DragonBox and Poio) and 2020 (Actimo and Drops). DragonBox 
and Poio have during 2020 been integrated into the Kahoot! platform and synergies are 
started to realize. Consequently, they are not separate cash generating units.  Additional 
cash generating units will be Actimo and Drops as the goodwill are not integrated yet as 
the synergies is not realized. These cash generating unit needs to be reassessed later.

Impairment of assets 

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated, are tested for impairment 
annually or more frequently if there is any indication that the cash-generating unit 
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets 
of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets not 
yet brought into use are assessed for impairment annually. If it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group determines the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes

Impairment test 2020

Goodwill was tested for impairment at the end of 2020. No impairment losses were 
identified in 2020, as the determined recoverable amount was above the carrying value.

When testing goodwill, management used a 5-year discounted cash flow. The 
following key assumptions were used for the value-in-use calculations:

Kahoot!
 ▶ Revenue growth rate in the beginning of the period exceeds 100% 

and declines to below 50% in the period, and during the first 5 
years in the terminal period declines further to 1.5% 

 ▶ EBITDA margin improving to 40%, where it remains constant in the 
terminal period. The EBITDA improvement is based on the scalability 
in the software model driven by the revenue growth.

 ▶ WACC: 8.5%

Sensitivity analysis 

The Group has prepared a sensitivity analysis of the impairment tests to changes in 
the key assumptions which are terminal growth rate and discount rate. Any reasonably 
possible changes in the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount 
exceeding the recoverable amount. A sensitivity analysis indicates that goodwill values 
would be justifiable even if the terminal growth rate were to fall below one percent. 
Impairment testing has indicated no existing impairment requirements for goodwill.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset or the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Description

The Group has goodwill and intangible assets related to the acquisitions of DragonBox 
and Poio in 2019 and Actimo and Drops in 2020, see note 4. Goodwill in the acquisitions 
of DragonBox, Poio, Actimo and Drops are all allocated to Kahoot! Group level. The 
expected synergies from these acquisitions are expected to be realized at Kahoot! 
Group level through the integration of these products in the Kahoot! subscriptions. 
As soon as the acquired products are integrated, it is not possible to identify separate 
cash inflows as cash flow from the Kahoot! subscriptions are not identifiable.
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Notes

Note 13  Property, plant and equipment
Accounting principles

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment charges. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges. Ordinary repairs 
and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period 
in which they are incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit. 
Major assets with different expected useful lives are reported as separate components. 

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

The difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its recoverable 
amount is recognized in the profit or loss statement as an impairment loss. 
Property, plant and equipment that have suffered impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial 
measurement of lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement 
day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful 
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The right-of-use assets are reviewed 
for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets 
are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value 
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

The head office lease agreements include termination option and extension 
options. The termination option includes a significant fee. It is the management 
intention to not early terminate the contract. Further, due to the significant growth, 
they will need more space going forward and no extension is expected.
        
Description

Description
The Group’s lease agreements include the head office and hosting agreements for 
specific servers. The head office lease was entered into in the end of 2018. Average 
incremental borrowing rate is 2.9%. Hosting agreements are defined as short-term 
leases and not recognized as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Hosting agreements for physical servers are short-term as the contracts is perpetual and can 
be cancelled within a few months by both parties. There are no cancellation fees involved. 

Note 14  Leasing
Accounting principles

The Group implemented IFRS 16 as of the date of transition to IFRS, 1 January 2018.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their 
relative stand-alone prices. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the fixed payments. Currently 
the company has one long-term lease contract, which relates to the head-office.

The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a 
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses a build-up approach 
that starts with a risk-free interest rate similar to the length of the lease adjusted 
for margin relevant for the company and the assets held by the Group.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an 
index, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments 
to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and 
adjusted against the right-of-use asset. Lease payments are allocated between principal and 
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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Notes

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet

Lease liabilities

Reconciliation of lease financing activities

Amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss

Maturity profile lease liability
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Notes

Description

Movements in the provision for expected credit losses:

The basis for the loss allowance was determined as follows:

Note 15  Trade receivables
Accounting principles

Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value. Trade receivables are non-
interest bearing and trading terms range from 0 to 60 days and therefore classified 
as current. The receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, if the amortization effect is material, less loss allowance. 

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying 
amount is considered to be the same as the transaction price.

Loss allowance and risk exposure

The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on payments profiles and customer contracts 
in the previous years. The majority of the Group’s revenue is invoiced annually 
in advance with immediate payment through automated sales.

Receivables are grouped into categories and the expected loss rates reflect the Group’s 
ability on collecting once receivables are overdue. The Group is in an early stage of its 
commercial journey and prior to 2019 there was no history to prove an expected loss rate 
model. The losses in 2018 were recognized according to the receivables written off.
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Notes

Note 16  Cash and cash equivalents
Accounting policies

Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits. Cash and cash 
equivalents in foreign currencies are translated at closing rate. The 
cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. 

Description

Note 17  Share-based payments
Accounting policies

Share-based payment

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

Equity-settled, share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect 
of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the grant date. The fair value is expensed 
over the vesting period as an employee benefit expense, with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The vesting period is the period over which all the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Group revises 
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest, based on the 
non-market vesting conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

The fair value at the grant date is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton option 
pricing model, which takes into account the exercise price, the life of the option, the 
current price of the underlying shares, the expected volatility of the share price, any 
dividends expected on the shares and risk-free interest rate for the life of the option. 
The expected share price volatility is based on historical volatility for a selection of 
comparable listed companies adjusted with a premium taking into account the maturity 
of the peers compared to the Group.  The risk-free interest rate is based on zero-coupon 
government bonds with a term equal to the expected term of the option being valued.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option grant are 
considered an integral part of the grant itself. The charges are treated as cash-
settled, share-based payments and re-measured at each reporting date.

When the options are exercised, the appropriate number of shares are transferred 
to the employee. The proceeds received from the exercise of the options (net of 
any directly attributable transaction costs) are credited directly to equity. 
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Notes

Components of share-based payments in profit or loss: Outstanding instruments

Share-based payments

The Company has had a long-term share incentive scheme for employees in the Company 
and its subsidiaries since 2015. Selected employees are, on an individual basis, granted 
rights to acquire shares (options). Each option gives the holder the right to, but not the 
obligation, to subscribe to or purchase (at the Company’s choice) one ordinary share 
in the Company at a strike price defined in the individual share option agreement.

The exercise prices are set by the Company. 

The share options vest over a four-year period, provided 
the employee is still employed by the Group.

Parameters connected to share options granted

*Weighted average parameters at grant of instrument

1. The share option numbers and exercise price are reflecting the 1:20 share split in 
July 2018, and 1:3 share split in June 2020, as further described in note 18 and 26.

2. Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of period.

3. Exercise price is determined on basis of price quoted for trades in the Company’s 
shares prior to the date of the Company’s annual general meeting in 2021.  
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Notes

Quantity and weighted average prices

1 The share option numbers and exercise price are reflecting the 1:20 share split in July 
2018, and 1:3 share split in June 2020, as further described in note 18 and 26.

2 The instruments were exercised at a share price of NOK 35.50 
and NOK 46.00 in 2020 and NOK 12.67 in 2019.
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Notes

Note 18  Equity
Share capital and share premium

Kahoot! AS only has one class of shares and all shares have the same voting rights. 
The shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared and 
are entitled to one vote per share at General Meetings of the Company. 

The share capital is fully paid and has a par value of NOK 0.10.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Kahoot! AS on 14 January 2021, the 
Board of Directors were authorized to increase the share capital in connection 
with mergers, acquisitions, equity raises and exercise of options.

Information relating to the Group’s Employee Option Plan, including details 
of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options 
outstanding at the end of each reporting period, is set out in note 17.

The table below shows the development in the Company’s share capital for the period 
covered by the historical financial information and up to the date of this Annual Report:

1. Exercise of options for employees (12,500 shares were subscribed 
for at a subscription price of NOK 35, whereas 1,500 shares were 
subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 60).

2. Private placement directed towards selected investors (865,000 shares were 
subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 150) and exercise of options for 
employees (60,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 35, 
whereas 75,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 100).

3. Transfer from other equity to share capital. Share split 
1:20 creating 100,303,090 new shares.

4. Exercise of options for employees (100,000 shares were subscribed 
for at a subscription price of NOK 1.75, whereas 235,000 shares 
were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 5).
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5. Exercise of options for employees (420,000 shares were 
subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 5).

6. Private placement directed towards selected investors (6,000,000 shares were 
subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 38) and exercise of options for 
employees (whereas 1,730,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of 
NOK 5, whereas 20,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 
3 and 20,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 1.75).

7. Transfer from other equity to share capital. Share split 1:3 creating 258,718,992 new shares.

8. Private placement directed towards selected investors (7,500,000 shares were 
subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 35.5) and exercise of options for 
employees (46,875 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 
6.6667, 15,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 3.3333, 
3,819,900 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 1.6667 
and 30,000 shares were subscribed for at a subscription price of NOK 1).

Share-based payments reserves

The share-based payments reserve represents the offsetting amount  
to employee expense. The reserve is fully distributable.

Foreign currency translation reserves

Exchange differences arising on the translation of the foreign entities are recognized in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of.

Note 19  Trade and other payables
Accounting principles

Financial liabilities regularly give rise to a redemption obligation in cash or 
another financial asset. These include, among others, trade payables.

Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value. The transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition are also recognized for all financial 
liabilities that are not subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
Trade payables and other non-derivative financial liabilities are generally measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. A financial liability is derecognized 
when the obligation underlying the liability is discharged, canceled or expired.

Determination of fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted prices as at the 
balance sheet date in an active market, if such markets exist. If an active market 
does not exist, fair value is established by using valuation techniques that are 
expected to provide a reliable estimate of the fair value. Financial instruments 
measured at fair value are classified according to the valuation method:

 ▶ Level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 ▶ Level 2: Valuation based on inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

 ▶ Level 3: Valuation based on inputs for the asset or liability that are 
unobservable market data. If one or more of the significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss in the line-item Financial expenses.
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Critical accounting estimates

Measurement of the contingent liabilities relating to the acquisitions in 2020 required 
the use of critical judgements and significant estimates when valuing the liability. The 
nominal value of contingent liabilities is determined by certain criteria and thresholds 
achieved after the close of the acquisitions. The earn-out relating to Actimo is determined 
based on the Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) as of 31 March 2021. The earn-out relating 
to Drops is determined based on invoiced revenue targets in 2020, 2021 and 2022 
subject to a net cash flow conversion condition. Given the contingent liability will be 
determined and settled in the future, the nominal value is discounted to present value. 
The discount rate is estimated using the risk-free rate in which the acquired companies 
operate, market premium, asset beta, small stock and country risk premium. It is 
assumed that equity financing is the optimal capital structure as of reporting date. 

Description

Contingent liability (earn-out) relating to the two acquisitions in 2020 is USD 27,344 thousand, 
of which USD 15,182 thousand is non-current. Contingent liability is presented within other 
non-current payables and other current payables. The contingent liability is measured at fair 
value through profit and loss. Net change in fair value for the period is USD 848 thousand 
and presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as net change in fair value 
of financial instruments. The earnout is measured according to level 3 in the hierarchy.

The main level 3 inputs used in assessing the fair value of the earnout is 
forecast of probability of cash outflow and discount rate. The discount rates 
applied for Actimo and Drops are respectively 12.9% and 12.4%.

Note 20  Financial risk management
The most significant financial risks which affect the Group are credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk related to foreign exchange rate risk, described 
further below. Management performs continuous evaluations of these risks 
and related processes established to manage them within the Group.

Market risk - 
foreign exchange

Future commercial 
transactions. Recognized 
financial assets 
and liabilities not 
denominated in the 
functional currency.

Cash flow forecasting. 
Sensitivity analysis.

Credit risk Cash and cash 
equivalents, and 
trade receivables 

Aging analysis. 
Credit ratings.

Liquidity risk Current liability Rolling cash flow forecasts

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement
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Financial instruments

All financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss is categorized within 
level 3 valuation method. Non-financial assets and liabilities are excluded from the table.

Market Risk

Market Risk - Foreign exchange

The Group presents its financial statements in USD. The Group operates in Denmark, 
Estonia, Finland, France, Norway, Spain, United Kingdom and the United States and 
have costs in local currencies while a major part of the Group’s revenues are in USD. 
With different functional currencies, the Group will be exposed to currency gains and 
losses on debt and receivables between the companies, which will affect its reported 
profit or loss. Fluctuations in exchange rates between NOK, USD, DKK, EUR and GBP 
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial 
condition, cash flow and prospects. The Group does currently not have any currency 
hedging arrangements in place to limit the exposure to exchange rate fluctuations.

The aggregate net foreign exchange gains/losses recognized in profit or loss were:

The net foreign exchange loss in 2020 was caused by exchange rate differences 
on foreign currency held in the parent company. The majority of the Group’s 
liquidity is held in USD as this is the expected acquisition currency.  The net foreign 
exchange losses presented in statement of profit or loss are largely reversed through 
exchange differences on translation to another presentation currency in other 
comprehensive income, such that total comprehensive income is not affected. 

Sensitivity

If the following currencies had strengthened/weakened against the functional 
currency, it would have had the below effect on the Group’s loss:

Credit risk 
The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as outstanding 
receivables. The Group does not have a specific procedure for assessing credit risks 
for its customers before transactions are entered. The Group does not have significant 
credit risk associated by a single counterparty. Most of the customers are invoiced 

through automated sales with immediate credit card payments. Manual sales to 
schools and enterprises with 30 days payment terms is considered low credit risk. 
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Cash and cash equivalents: The counterparts for the Groups cash deposits 
are large banks which are considered to be solid. The group assesses that 
there are no material credit risks associated with these deposits.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors liquidity centrally across the group. It is the Group’s strategy 
to have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to at any time fund operations and 
investments according to the company’s strategic plans. The Group monitors its 
liquidity risk through a short-term and a long-term liquidity forecast to manage 
the target of a minimum position of cash imposed by the Board of Directors. The 
Group’s financial liabilities are mainly trade payables and other current liabilities.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives for capital management are to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient free liquidity with regards to cash and cash equivalents in order to support 
its business and obligations as well as having sufficient flexibility to invest in attractive 
investment opportunities. The Group manages its capital structure in light of changes 
in economic and actual conditions, and the development in the groups underlying 
business. The Group’s equity ratio exceeded 76% per 31.12.2020. The Group does not 
have any interest-bearing loans or capital requirements defined by third parties. 

Note 21  Related parties
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, 
which are related parties to the Company, have been eliminated 
on consolidation, and are not disclosed in this note.

Profit or loss items

The amounts in the table above are presented within other operating costs. 

The Group did not have any related party transactions that are recognized 
in the balance sheet at the end of each year presented herein.

Key management remuneration

The CEO has 6 months’ notice period and 6 months’ severance pay.

In 2019, the former CEO received USD 700 thousand from the exercise 
of vested employee options. In 2018, the former CEO received USD 
1,300 thousand from the exercise of vested employee options.
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No board remuneration was paid in 2020, 2019 or 2018. 

Number of shares held by the key management and the Board of Directors

Share options management

For a description of the share-option program, see note 17.

The share option numbers and exercise price are reflecting the 1:20 
share split in July 2018, and 1:3 share split in June 2020.

The share numbers are reflecting the 1:20 share split in July 2018, and 1:3 
share split in June 2020, as further described in note 18 and 26.

1. Hanoa holds shares through Glitrafjord AS, which is controlled by Hanoa.
2. Furuseth holds shares through Newbrott AS, which is controlled by Furuseth. 
3. Versvik holds shares through Versvik Invest AS, which is controlled by Versvik
4. Rebsdorf holds shares through MREB Invest AS, which is controlled by Rebsdorf.
5. Arnet is a representative of Datum Group
6. Cassel is a representative of Creandum.
7. Kotting is a representative of Northzone.
8. Østgård holds shares through Konsern AS, which is controlled by Østgård.
9. Grønntun holds shares through Eikum AS, which is controlled by Grønntun.

Stefan Blom, member of the board, holds 300,000 options. 

* Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of period.

** For outstanding share options where the share option exercise price is determined. 
Exercise price for remaining share options will be based on 20 days Weighted average 

exercise price (VWAP) prior to the date of the Company’s annual general meeting in 2021.  
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Note 23  Shareholder information
Ownership structure

All shares have equal voting rights.

Largest shareholders as of 31 December 2020

Note 22  Investments in subsidiaries

¹ On 18 January 2021, Northzone Ventures Norway AS sold 12 million shares. 11 million 
shares were acquired by a fund managed by SB Management Limited, a 100% directly 
owned subsidiary of SoftBank Group Corp and 1 million shares were acquired by Glitrafjord, 

a company wholly owned by CEO Eilert Hanoa through AS Real-Forvaltning AS.



60Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020

Notes

Largest shareholders as of 31 December 2019

Largest shareholders as of 31 December 2018

Note 24  Contingencies and legal claims
Accounting principles

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. Material 
contingent liabilities are disclosed, with the exception of contingent 
liabilities where the probability of the liability occurring is remote.

Description

Neither the Company nor any other company in the Group is involved in 
or has received notice that it may be involved in any legal proceeding of 
such importance that they may be of significance for the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, as a result of the nature of its business, the Company 
and other companies within the Group may from time to time be party to various 
legal claims and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Similar to 
most technology companies with international presence, the Company’s international 
operations expose the Group to differences in foreign trademark, trade dress, copyright, 
patent and other laws concerning proprietary rights and degree of protection, and 
may from time to time be subjected to claims and allegation for infringement of 
third party intellectual property rights in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

As at 9 February 2021, the Group is involved in two disputes relating to alleged infringement 
of intellectual property rights. (i) TimePlay, Inc, a Canadian-based company, has alleged that 
certain parts of Kahoot!’s system infringe on certain of TimePlay, Inc’s patents. The Company 
has rejected the allegations and argued that TimePlay, Inc’s patent claim can be challenged 
both on grounds of invalidation and non-infringement. (ii) A former consultant to DragonBox 
has claimed that DragonBox has utilised the consultant’s contribution to the Dragonbox’ 
product “Les Noums CP” in order to improve other DragonBox products which were not 

intended for the French market. The consultant passed away in November 2020, and any 
claims against DragonBox will have to be pursued by the former consultant’s estate and heirs.
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Note 25  Implementation of IFRS
Accounting principles

These financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2020, are the first 
the Group has prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU). The implementation of 
IFRS follows the Group’s intention to list on Oslo Stock Exchange. These financial 
statements will be published at the Group’s website and in the prospectus. For 
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (NGAAP). 

The Group has prepared consolidated financial statements that comply with IFRS as 
endorsed by the European Union (EU) applicable as at 31 December 2020, together with 
the comparative period data for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the year ended 
31 December 2018, as described in general accounting principles and relevant notes. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Group’s opening statement of financial 
position was prepared as at 1 January 2018, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS. This 
note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its NGAAP 
financial statements. For the 1 January and 31 December 2018 there are no published 
financial statements for the Group as this was not a requirement under Norwegian 
Accounting Law. The figures under NGAAP were presented in NOK. As part of the 
implementation of IFRS the Group changed its presentation currency to USD.

Reconciliation of Assets, Liabilities and Equity
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Reconciliation of Assets, Liabilities and Equity (continued)
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 Reconciliation of Profit (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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 Reconciliation of Cash Flows
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Notes to the reconciliation of changes from NGAAP to IFRS:

A) Purchase price allocation related to Poio and DragonBox

Previously all excess values were allocated to goodwill and amortized. Transaction 
costs were recognized as part of the cost price/goodwill. At the implementation of 
IFRS, a purchase price allocation was performed for the acquisitions in 2019, and 
the excess value allocated to the identifiable assets and deferred tax liabilities. 

NOK 55,475 thousand was reclassified from goodwill to intangible assets (technology 
and brands) in the balance sheet for the year ended 31 December 2019, including 
an increase in goodwill and deferred tax liabilities of NOK 12,205 thousand. 

NOK 15,106 thousand of amortization of goodwill was reversed.

Cost prices were adjusted for transaction costs, which was recognized as 
an operating expense, amounting to NOK 3,055 thousand as an increase 
in operating expenses and a corresponding decrease of goodwill.

NOK 1,760 thousand of amortization was recognized for the identified technologies 
and a related decrease to income tax and deferred tax liability of NOK 387 
thousand. The identified brands are considered to have an indefinite useful life.

B) Deferred revenue and deferred COGS

Under NGAAP, the revenue in DragonBox (acquired with effective date 1 September 2019) 
was amortized over the subscription period. Under IFRS, the evaluation is that the revenue 
shall be recognized at a point in time. This also affected the opening balance included in 
the purchase price allocation. Therefore, on 31 December 2019, the Group recognized a 
decrease in the revenue of NOK 1,914 thousand, a decrease in contract liabilities (deferred 
revenue) of NOK 3,665 thousand and a decrease in goodwill of NOK 5,580 thousand.  

The same applied for the deferred cost of goods sold. Therefore, at 31 December 2019, the 
Group recognized a decrease in the cost of goods sold by NOK 570 thousand, a decrease in 
deferred COGS of NOK 1,208 thousand and an increase in goodwill of NOK 1,778 thousand.  

C) Government grants

Under NGAAP, a government grant was received in cash by DragonBox in 2018. 
The grant committed the Company to continue its development over a two-year 
period. Under NGAAP, this was recognized as other revenue over the two-year 
period. As part of the purchase price allocation, the related asset was considered 
to have zero value. However, as the development period is not finalized, costs 
are still incurred. The value of the government grant was reclassified from other 
revenue to a decrease in employee benefit expenses of NOK 667 thousand.

D) Share-based payments

Under NGAAP, the Group did not recognize any costs associated to the share-based 
payments as an expense. IFRS requires the fair value of the share options to be 
determined using an appropriate pricing model recognized over the vesting period.

Expenses of NOK 17,997 thousand (2018) and NOK 33,282 thousand (2019), were recognized 
in profit or loss as employee benefit expenses. This includes social security tax.

The following amounts were recognized against the share-based payment reserves, NOK 
13,801 thousand (31 December 2018) and NOK 18,417 thousand (31 December 2019).

For the corresponding social security tax liability, the recognized amounts were NOK 
13,189 thousand (31 December 2018) and NOK 40,364 thousand (31 December 2019).
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E) Deferred tax asset

Under NGAAP, the Company’s tax losses carried forward were recognized as a 
reduction in income tax expenses for all years. Management assessed whether it 
is still applicable under IFRS and concluded the entire recognized deferred tax 
asset should be reversed by NOK 15,434 thousand as at 1 January 2018,NOK 30,124 
thousand as at 31 December 2018 and NOK 44,509 as at 31 December 2019. 

F) Leases

Under NGAAP, a lease is classified as a finance lease or an operating lease. Operating 
lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the statement of profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under IFRS, a lessee applies a single 
recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets and recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

In 2018 the Group entered into a lease agreement for its head-office (until this lease 
agreement, no lease obligation were to be recognized according to their terms). All 
other leasing agreements are regarded as short-term as they are mainly perpetual 
and can be cancelled within a few months. Right-of-use assets were measured at 
the amount equal to the lease liabilities adjusted by the amount of any prepaid 
or accrued lease payments. As a result, the Group recognized an increase of NOK 
30,045 thousand as at 31 December 2018 (NOK 27,762 thousand as at 31 December 
2019) of lease liabilities and an increase of NOK 30,045 thousand as at 31 December 
2018 (NOK 27,027 thousand as at 31 December 2019) of right-of-use assets.

Other operating expenses decreased by NOK 4,859 thousand in 2019. 
Additionally, depreciation increased by NOK 4,361 thousand in 2019 (NOK 
362 thousand in 2018) and finance costs increased by NOK 798 thousand 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (NOK 73 thousand in 2018).

he lease payment is presented as financing activities and reclassified 
from operating activities with NOK 4,859 thousand in 2019.

G) Intangible assets

Under NGAAP, the Company’s website domain was recognized as an asset 
with an indefinite useful life. As at the date of transition to IFRS, 1 January 2018, 
the intangible asset has been amortized using a useful life of 10 years.  Group 
started to depreciate the intangible asset by NOK 174 thousand effective from 
year from 2017 onwards and included in the 1 January opening balance.  
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Note 26  Events after the reporting period
No events that have significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group have occurred after 31 December 2020.

Note 27  New and amended standards 
not yet adopted by the Group
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the 
following standards and interpretations that could affect the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements were issued but not effective:

 ▶ Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ on classification of liabilities
 ▶ This change clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, 

depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification 
is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date 
(for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment 
also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.

Management anticipates that these standards and interpretations will be adopted at the 
dates stated above provided that the standards and interpretations are approved by the EU.
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Note 1  Parent company accounting principles 
General information

Kahoot! AS (the Company or Kahoot!) is a limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Norway, with its head office in Fridtjof Nansens 
plass 7, 0160 Oslo. Kahoot! AS is the parent company in the Kahoot! Group, 
and is listed on Euronext Growth Oslo with the ticker “KAHOT”. 

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting principles 
in Norway. The financial statement is presented in NOK.

Classification and evaluation of balance sheet Items

Current assets as well as current liabilities include items which fall due for payment 
within one year after time of acquisition. The remaining items are classified as 
fixed assets / long-term debt. Current assets are evaluated to the lowest sum 
of acquisition cost and fair value. Fixed assets are evaluated to acquisition cost 
and depreciated over the expected economic lifetime. In case of permanent 
impairment testing fixed assets are written down to recoverable amounts.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation 

and adjustments for impairment losses. 

Acquisition cost of fixes assets includes fees, taxes and other direct purchase expenses 
necessary to prepare the fixed asset for operation. Accrued expenses for spare parts 
of fixed assets are included in the balance value when these kinds of expenses 
are considered to represent future economical benefits in excess of the originally 
assessed functional standard of the asset, and the expenses can be measured 
reliably. All other costs are expensed in the income statement as they occur.

Depreciations are charged to the income statement using the 
straight-line method over estimated utilized lifetime. 
The remaining value of a fixed asset is evaluated annually 
unless the value is considered insignificant.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation and adjustments 
for impairment losses. Depreciations are charged to the income statement 
using the straight-line method over estimated utilized lifetime.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are valued by the cost method. The investment is valued as cost 
of acquired shares in the subsidiary, providing that write down is not required. 
Write down to fair value will be carried out if the reduction in value is caused by 
circumstances which may not be regarded as incidental. Write downs are reversed 
when the cause of the initial write down are no longer present. Dividend and other 
distributions are recognized in the same year as accrued for in the subsidiary.  

Notes
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Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables and other receivables are recognized at their anticipated 
realizable value, which is the original invoice amount less an estimated 
allowance for impairment loss on these receivables. Individual considerations 
are made with respect to customer receivables and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, inclusive of restricted holdings.

Foreign currency      

Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are converted using the year-end exchange rates. 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate on the transaction date.

Revenue recognition

Revenues from software licenses are recognized in the income 
statement based on the duration of the contract period.

Operational leases

Leases for which most of the risk rests with the other contracting party, are 
classified as operating leases. Lease payments are classified as operating 
costs and charged to the income statement over the contract period.

Research and development

Expenses relating to research and development are recognized 
in the income statement when they occur.

Pension contributions

Commitments to contribute pension arrangements to employees 
are charged to the income statement when they occur.  

Income tax

The income tax expense consists of tax payable and changes to deferred 
tax. Income taxes are recognized in the income statement with 
exception of taxes from items recognized directly to equity.

Taxes payable amounts to expected payable tax from taxable profit for the year at 
applicable tax rates at the balance date, and adjustments (if any) of payable taxes 
from previous years. Provisions are made for deferred taxes based on the balance-
oriented liability method, considering temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and the tax bate of assets and liabilities. Provisions for deferred taxes are 
based on expected settlements of balance values of assets and liabilities and are 
calculated with the tax rates approved for future periods at the balance date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that the Company will 
have a sufficient profit for tax purposes to utilize the tax asset. Deferred tax 
assets are reduced if it is no longer likely that the asset may be utilized.

Cash flow report

Cash flow report is prepared according to the indirect method.

Use of estimates      

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the profit and loss statement, 
the measurement of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet date. Actual results can differ from these estimates.
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Change in accounting principles
Share-based payment have not been accounted for in the parent financial 
statement prior to 1 January 2020. The cumulative effects from inception 
of the share-based program in 2015 to 2019 have been adjusted for in the 
opening balance as of 1 January 2020. The effects are as follows:

 ▶ Other paid in capital relating to share-based payment 
is recognized with NOK 17,758 thousand.

 ▶ Public duties payable is increased with NOK 38,065 thousand.

 ▶ Investments in subsidiaries is increased with NOK 7,747 thousand.

 ▶ Other equity is reduced with NOK 48,076 thousand and reflects the 
expenses that would be recognized through statement of profit or loss 
if the share-based program had been recognized from inception.

1 Expenses relating to share-based payments have not been recognized in the 
parent financial statement prior to 1 January 2020. The effect included in equity 
opening balance as of 1 January 2020 comprise of share-based payment expenses 
cumulative effects as of 31 December 2019. NOK 48,076 thousand included in 
other equity is reflecting the effect on retained earnings as if the share-based 
payments had been expensed annually since inception to 31 December 2019. 

Note 2  Equity
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Note 4  Direct cost of sales
Includes credit card, transactions and app store fees.

Note 3  Revenue
Over 90% of revenue in Kahoot! is prepaid annual contracts on software licenses.
 
Revenues from software licenses are recognized in the income statement based 
on the duration of the contract period. All deferred revenue in the balance sheet 
on 31 December 2020 will be recognized as operating revenue in 2021.
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Note 5  Payroll costs, number of 
employees and benefits

The CEO has 6 months’ notice period and 6 months’ severance pay.

The CEO was granted 600,000 share options in 2020 and has 750,000 share 
options outstanding, whereas for 150,000 share options the exercise price is not 
decided1. The average exercise price for outstanding share options where exercise 
price is decided is NOK 19.20. The CEO vested 37.500 share options in 2020.

For details regarding the share option program in Kahoot! Group, 
see note 17 in the consolidated Group financial statement.

The company is obligated to follow the stipulations in the Norwegian Mandatory 
Occupational Pensions Act. The company’s  pension scheme adheres to the requirements, 
as set in the Act. The defined contribution plans had 90 members in 2020.

1 For outstanding share options where the share option exercise price is determined. 
Exercise price for remaining share options will be based on 20 days Weighted average 
exercise price (VWAP) prior to the date of the Company’s annual general meeting in 2021.  
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Specification of auditors’ fees

Remuneration to Deloitte AS is as follows:  

Note 6  Operating expenses
Other operating cost consists of the following:

Note 7  Intangible assets

R&D costs were in 2020 and 2019 expensed in the income statement as 
they occurred. R&D costs for prior years for developing the Kahoot! platform 
were capitalized up till the launch of the commercial offering in 2017.
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Note 8  Property, plant and equipment Note 9  Investment in subsidiaries and 
transactions and balances with related parties

1 Net result included from the date of acquisition for companies acquired during the year. 
Net result is translated to NOK 1,000 using average foreign exchange rate for the year.

2 Equity is translated to NOK using the closing foreign exchange for the year.
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Note 10  Accounts receivables Note 11  Cash and cash equivalents



80Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020

Notes

Note 12  Share capital and shareholder information
The share capital in the company at 31 December 2020 consists of:

For shareholder information, see note 23 in the consolidated Group financial statement. 

Note 13  Taxes

Specification of the tax effect of temporary differences and losses carried forward: 

In 2020, company has achieved a strong revenue growth as result of successful commercial 
development of the Kahoot! offerings. Whereas the recognized revenue is being deferred 
through subscription lifetime, the company’s cash flow from operations in 2020 is positive. The 
deferred tax benefit is included in the balance sheet on the basis of future taxable income.  
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Alternative 
performance 
measures

In order to enhance the understanding of the Group’s 
performance, the Group presents certain measures and 
ratios that might be considered as alternative performance 
measures (APM) as defined by the European Securities 
and Markets Authority, and these should not be viewed 
as substitute for any IFRS financial measures. These APMs 
includes invoiced revenue, Annual Recurring Revenue 
(ARR), Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR), EBITDA and 
adjusted EBITDA. The Group has presented these APMs 
because it considers them to be important supplemental 
measures to understand the overall picture of revenue 
and profit generation in the Group’s operating activities. 
Please see below for a further description of these APMs:

 ▶ Invoiced Revenue: Is defined as the amount 
invoiced to customers in the relevant period.  

 ▶ Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR): Is defined as the 
Company’s consolidated recurring revenue for a month. 

 ▶ Annual Recurring Revenue or (ARR): Is defined as 
MRR for the applicable month multiplied by twelve. 

 ▶ EBITDA: Is defined as the profit/(loss) for the year 
before net financial income (expenses), income 
tax expense, depreciation and amortization. 

 ▶ Adjusted EBITDA: Is defined as EBITDA adjusted 
for special operating items. Special operating 
items are material expenses and other material 
transactions of either a non-recurring nature 
or special in nature compared to ordinary 
operational income or expenses and include 
adjustments for share-based compensation 
expenses and related payroll taxes, acquisition-
related expenses and listing cost preparations. 

Kahoot! Group Annual Report 2020
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To the General Meeting of Kahoot! AS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Kahoot! AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Kahoot! AS (the Company), which comprise the balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Kahoot! AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
balance sheets as at 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019, 31 December 2018, the income statements, 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2020, December 2019 and December 2018 and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
EU. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in the annual 
report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in accordance 
with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements of the Company in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for 
the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. The financial 
statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely that the enterprise 
will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the Group use the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in 
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves a true and fair view. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
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for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information presented in 
the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposed 
allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have considered 
necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance 
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is our opinion that management has 
fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of the Company’s 
accounting information in accordance with the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in 
Norway. 

 
Trondheim, 10 February 2021 
Deloitte AS 
 

 
Morten Alsos 
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 




